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THE FOUR OLD LODGES.

PART I.

§ 1.—I. It is the design of the following remarks, pri-
marily, to elucidate the history and status of the survivors
of the Four Old Lodges who, on the Festival of St.John
the Baptist A.p., 1717, met and instituted the premier
Grand Lodge of the World (*)—and, incidentally, to trace
back to their earliest periods and places of assembly in the
last century, various Lodges now existing, which were
called into being during the half century immediately
following such Masonic revival.

We all, as Masons, enter into the original inheritance of
tradition, but there is no brother who has a larger share
in that noble inheritance, than he who has had the good
fortune to be received into the Craft, under the auspices
of either of those old Lodges, whose vigorous offspring, the
United Grand Lodge of England, has now attained such a
meridian splendour.

An interest, however, in the Time Immemorial Lodges,
is not restricted to their own members, since every brother
holding under the English Constitution, is directly con-
cerned in the history, privileges, and status, of the Masonic
parents of all English Lodges now existing. But our
¢ 0ld Lodges " have, in truth, been too much neglected and
forgotten, to the lasting reproach of the English Craft;
not so, however, under the Masonic government of a sister
kingdom—the old Lodges of Scotland are encircled by a
halo of prestige, enjoy an honourable precedency over all
Lodges of later date, and in Bros. D. M. Liyon and Laurie (*)
have found able chroniclers, with whom it has indeed been
a labour of love, to dilate upon their unrivalled antiquity.
The oldest Lodge records in the world, those of the Lodge
of Edinburgh, St. Mary’s Chapel, No. 1; the archives of
the Grand Lodge of Scotland ; the store of manuscripts
preserved in Mother Kilwinning, and other pre-eighteenth
centary Lodges, having each in turn been laid under con-
tribution by these indefatigable brethren.

With us, however, a history of Freemasonry and the

() Hughan, Masonic Memorials of the Union.

(2) History of the Lodge of Edinburgh, D. M. Lyon. History of
Freemasonry and the Grand Lodge of Sootland, Laarie.

Grand Lodge of England, remains to be written; our
premier Lodges yet await an adequate and enduring
memorial, of their exertions as the pioneers of Masonic
progress ; neither have they been compensated for this
neglect of the Craft, by any especial favours from Grand
Lodge, which has not judged it unreasonable that the
equanimity of its ‘Masonic parents ” should be periodi-
cally disturbed, by having passed over their heads Lodges
of later date, to higher positions of rank and precedency.

The following slight sketch of the history and privileges
of the Four Old Lodges, is, in the main, based on materials
accessible to the entire Craft, viz., the Constitutions, pub-
lished from time to time by order of Grand Lodge; the
various lists of Lodges, the “‘Illustrations of Masonry,” by
the late W. Preston, and other well known Masonic Text
Books.

II. It is & curious coincidence, that the establishment of
the Grand Lodge of Scotland, on 30th Nov. 1736, was also
due to the exertions of Four Metropolitan Lodges (Edin-
burgh), who convened a meeting ‘“at St. Mary’s Chapell,”
‘““in order to concur in the election of a Grand Master.”
Thirty-three Lodges are recorded to have been represented
on this occasion, and at the first Quarterly Communication,
all Lodges who were not regularly constituted were enjoined
to apply for a new Constitution, in order that they might
be enrolled on the Grand Lodge Registry ; and those who
had been properly constituted were required to exhibit their
patents for confirmation thereof. In consequence of this,
almost all the Lodges applied for new Constitutions, and
by a ready and voluntary renunciation of their former
rights, evinced the steadiness of their attachment to the
Grand Lodge of Scotland, and their unfeigned acknow-
ledgment of her jurisdiction and power.(*)

It will be convenient to proceed, firstly, with a chrono.
logical record of the Four Old Lodges ; secondly, with a
consideration of the especial privileges (if any) stipulated

() Laarie, pp 97, 101, § 83 (V.)



2 THE FOUR OLD LODGES.

for by, and accorded to them; and, thirdly, with some
conoluding observations on their status at the present
day. ’

§ 2.—*“ And after the Rebellion was over, A.D. 1716,* the few lodges
at London, finding themselves neglected by 8ir Christopher Wren,
thought fit to cement under a Grand Master, a8 the Centre of Union
and Harmony, viz., the Lodges that met—

1. At the Goose and Gridiron Ale-house in 8t. Pauls Churchyard.
2. At the Crown Ale-house in Parkers Lane near Drury Lane.
8. At the Apple Tree Tavern in Charles Street, Covent Garden.
"~ 4. At the Rummer and Grapes Tavern in Channel Row, Westminster.

“They and some old Brothers met at the said Apple Tres, and
having put into the cbair the oldest Master Mason (now the Master
of a Lodge), they constituted a GRAND LoDGE pro tempore in due form,
and forthwith revived the Quarterly Communication of the Officers of
Lodges (cal’d the Grand Lodge), resolved to hold the annual
AssEMBLY and Feast, and then to chuse a GRAND MasTER from among
themselves till they should have the Honour of & noble Brother at
their Head.

Aoocordingly
On 8t. John Baptist day, in the 3rd year of King George the 1st, A.D.
1717, THE ASSEMBLY and Feast of the Free and Accepted Masons
was held at the foresaid Goose and Gridiron Alehouse.
“Before Dinner, the oldest Master Mason (now the Master of a
Lodge) in the chair, proposed a list of proper candidates: and the
Brethren by a majority of hands elected

Mr. ANTONY SAYER GENTLEMAN Grand Master of Masons,

who being forthwith in- Mr. Jacob Lamball Grand
vested with the BapgEs {Carpenter Ward
of Office and Power by the Capt. Joseph Elliot, ens

said Oldest Master and instal’d was duly congratulated by the
Assembly who pay’d him the Homage.”

§ 3.—LIST OF LODGES, No. 1.

The following is the first List of Lodges ever printed,
and was appended to the earliest Book of Constitutions,
published in 1723.

The * Approbation” of this work § 18 (VL) imme-
diately preceded the signatures of the undermentioned
brethren. §§ 17 (V.) and 23 (IV).

PHiLip, Duke or WHARTON, GRAND MASTER.

J.T. Desacurizrs(!), LL.D. and F.R.S., DEPUTY GRAND MASTER.

Josaua TimsoN, Blacksmith
WitLiaM Hawkins, Mason

And the Masters and Wardens of particular Lodges, vis.:—

} GRAND WARDENS.

L—THoMAS MORRIS SEN, . . Master.
John Bristow . . .
Abraham Abbot . . . } Wardens.
[L.—RicHARD HaLL . . . Master.
Philip Wolverston . . . .
John Doyer . . . . 1 Wardens.
III.—JouN TUERNER . . .
Anthony 8ayer ( 2) . .
Edward Cale . . w"""“"

IV.—Mr. GozaE Parne(?)
Stephen Hall, M.D. .
Francis Sorefl, Esq. . . . Wudens.

V.—Mr. MaTH. BIRKHEAD(4) ., .  Master.
Francis Baily . . . .
Nioholas Abraham , . . . } Wardens.

VI.—WiLLiAx REaD . . . .
John Glover . . . . .
Robert Cordell . . . .

w

} Wardens.

® Oonstitations 1788, p 109.

VII.—HENRY BRANSON . . . .

Joha Tomiahend | . . . } Wordens
viod— ... . . . . .  Master.
Joha Bhipton . .. . | Werdens
IX.—Grorce Owen, M.D. . . . Master.
JoaHoun . . . L . ) Wardems.
X— . . + « Master.
fmlabon, o r ) wastem
XI1.—Fzancis, Ears or Darkerra( ) Master.
Capt. Andrew Robinson . . )
Col. Thomas Inwood . . 3 Wardens.
XTII.—JorN Bear, M.D. and F.R.8. . Master
Charios Moo, Fqe” . L .} Wardems,
XTIT.—THoMAS MORRIS JUN. . . . Master.
Jons Clask L L i . }Wasdens
XIV.—TroMAs Ropee, Esq. . . . Master
Thbomas Grave . . . . Wardens
Bray Lane . . .. . :
XV.—Mr. JORN SHEPHERD . . . Master.
Joha Bacler .. . . . }Werdeos
XVI.—Jon~ GeEorGes, Esq. . . .  Master
Charios Grywen s Wardens
XVII.—JaMEs ANDERSON, A.M.(8) Master.

The ABEHOB of this g'oos
Gwinn Vaogban, Esq. .
Walter Greenwood, Ksq. .

XVIIL.—THoMAS HARBIN . . . .
William Attley . . . .
John Saxon . . . . .

XIX.—ROBERT CAPELL . . . . 3
Isaac Maunsfield . . o .
WilliamBly . . . . . } Wardens.

XX.—JoHN GOoRMAN . .
Charles Garey . . .
Edward Morphey . .

(1) Grand Master 1719.
(%) Grand Master 1717.
(%) Grand Master 1718 and 1720.

(*) The author of E.A. song, the words of which are bound
up with this Edition of the Constitutions, headed ‘“by the late Mr.
Mat. Birkhead.”

(%) Grand Master 1723.

(®) Anthor (or Editor) of the “ Book of Constitntions,” published
by the “ Grand Lodge of England ” in 1723 and 1738 respectively.

The above list comprises the four old Lodges, together
with sixteen new Lodges, constituted between 1717 and
1723. It will be seen that Bro. Anthony Sayer, the
premier Grand Master of Freemasons, was a member of
original No. 3, and Bro. George Payne, his successor in the
Grand Mastership, a member of original No. 4. Indeed,
to the close connection between Bro. Payne and this latter
Lodge is entirely due its present continuance on the roll.
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§ 4.—LIST No. 2.
LIST OF LODGES—172

Nos Earr or DaLkxiTH G.M. 1728,
)
Nu."n. Sigms of the Houses.

8t. Paol’s Church yard

1 Goose and Gridiron
3 Queen’s Head ... Knave’s Acre
2 Queen’s Head ... Tarpstile
6 Cheshire Cheese Arundel 8t.
4 Horn ‘Westminster
King’s Held Ivy Lane
9 Griffin . Newgate Street
8 Cranes ... Poultry
3 Compasses ... 8ilver Street
Fountaine ... s «. In the Strand
Rose and Crown King’s Street West
156 Greyhound... ... Fleet Street
Crown ... Near Cripplegate
11 Rommer ... Charring Cross
Half Moon ... In the Strand
8t. John’s Gate Coﬂ'ee Honse Clerkenwell
Castle Drury Lane
16 Duke of Bedford’s Head . Southampton 8t., Covent Garden
13 Castle e .+ Bt Giles
Cardigan Head Charring Cross
Swan e ... Fish Street Hill
Ball Head . «. Bouthwark
Anchor . Dutchy Lane, in the Strand
Baptist Head Chancery Lane
Sun Clare Market
Half Moon ... Cheapside
Crown Behind the Royal Exchange
Swan Ludgate Street
20 Prinoe of Denmark’s Head  Cavendish Street
Ben’s Coffee House ... New Bond Street
8hip - « Bartholomew Lane
King’s Arms o .. 8t. Paul’'s Church Yard
Queen’s Head . Great Queens Street
Crown ... B8t.John’s Wapping
19 8t. George and Dmgon Charring Cross
Ship e ... Behind y°* Royal Exchange
Dolphin ... Tower Street
Duke of Chandos’s Arms ... At Edgworth
Crown . At Acton
The Bulybody and Flgnre Chamng Croes, near the Hay Market
Dick’s Coffee House «. By y® New Charch in y* Strand
Ship Without Temple Barr
Nag'a Head Princess Street by Drury Lane
Ship . Fish Street Hill
. Bell .. .. King’s Btreet,We-tmmlhr
12 Crown and Anchor Against 8t. Clement’s Ch. in y® Strand
Blew Boar . ... Near S8hoe Lane, Fleet Street

The Old Devill Tsvern
Tom’s Coffee Honse
RBRed Lyon ... .
Blew Posts

Near Temple Barr, Fleet Street
Clare Street, near Olare Market
Tottenbam Court Road

Near Middle Row, Holborn

Printed for, and sold by Eman Bowen, Engraver, in Aldersgate St.

This is the earliest of the engraved lists, and gives
neither numbers or dates of Constitution : the * Signs of the
houses,” as continued to be the practice up to A.D. 1769
are shown in miniature, and their exact signification
cannot always be conjectured, especially with regard to
“Coats of Arms,” and “effigies” of contemporary
celebrities. To this rule, however, the above list is an
exception, since, whilst the localities where the Lodges met
are an exact reprint of the engraved list, the “ Signs of the
Houses”’ are copied from the written description of the
Taverns in the earliest minute Book of Grand Lodge.

The identification of certain Lodges above, with their
places in the previous list (Constit. 1723) has been effected
by an examination of the register of members. § 13 (VI.)

LIST No. 8.

(Exeravep List 1725.%)
A List of the REGULAR Lodges as ovnstitated till March 26th.
Printed for and sold by I. Pine, engraver, over against little

Britain and in Aldersgate Street.

Signs of the Houses.
Goose and Gridiron ...
Queen’s Head
Queen’s Head

Out
Horn
King’s Head
Griffin

Out
Three Compu'e'
Fountaine
Rose and Crown
Greyhound

Out
Rommer
Half Moon

Oat

Oat
Duke of Bedford’u Head
Castle ...
Cardigan Head .
Swan ... e e
Ball Head
Auochor ... e
Baptist’s Head
Sun ves

Sun

Three Tans v

Prince of Denmark’s Bead
Ball e o
Crown ... ove

King’s Arms ...
Queen’s Head ... .ee
Queen's Head ...
Lyon and Shield .

Ship e .
Dolphin

Dake of Clundoo s Arms
Crown ... ee

King’s Head ... e
Dick’s Coffee House ...
8hip e o
Nag’s Head
8hip e e
Bell e .
Garter ...
Blew Boar s .es
The Old Devill
Tom’s Coffee House ...
Red Lyon .
Crown: and Soeptre
Lyon .
Queen’s Head ...
Nag’s Head ...
Queen’s Head ...
Swan ... e

Msson’s Arms ...
White Lyon ...
Black Posts

Swan ... ee aee
Queen’s Head ... e
Fleece ... s

Harp and men
Rummer

The Temple of Solomon
Globe ... e e
Red Lyon

(At bottom of 1st page.)

8t. Paul’s Church yard
Knave's Acre
Turnstile

Westminster
Ivy Lane
Newgate St.

Silver Street

In the Strand

King 8t., Westminster
Fleet Street

Charring Cross
In the Strand

Southampton 8t., Covent Garden
8t. Giles

Charring Cross

Fish 8t. Hill

Southwark

Datchy Lane in the Strand
Chancery Lane

Clare Market

South side of St. Paal's
Behind y°* Royal Exchange
Newgate St.

Cavendish Street

Vere Street

Bow Lane

8t. Paul’s Church yard
Great Qneen 8t.

Temple Barr (In M8.)
Brewer Street

Behind y® Royal Exchange
Tower St.

At Edgworth

At Acton

Pall Mall

By y° New Charch in y* Strand
Without Temple Barr
Prinoess 8t. by Drury Lane
Fish 8t. Hill

King 8t., Westminster
York 8t., Covent Garden
Near Shoe Lane, Fleet 8t.
Near Temple Barr, Fleet St.
Clare 8t., near Clare Market
Tottenham Court Road

8t. Martin’s Lane

. Riohmond in Sarrey

City of Bath

City of Bristol

City of Norwich

City of Chichester

City of Chester

City of Chester

Falham

Wytch Street, near Drury Lane
Cock Pit Court, Great Wild St.
East 8t., Greenwich

Hollis 8t., Oxford Square

Fleet 8t.

8t. Martin’s Lane

Henrietta St.

Corner of Castle 8t. and Hemming'’s
Bridges 8t. [Bow
Brentford

From the similarity of address (Aldersgate St.) it would

® From Grand Lodge. See Appendix, List 10.
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seem highly probable that Eman Bowen and John Pine
were in some way connected in their business as engravers,
the former, it may be, executing the order of the latter.
The earliest edition of the Engraved Lists has no frontis-
piece, and bears the printer’s name in very small letters at
foot of the last page. The List for 1725, however, has a
distinct heading, and exhibits Pine’s name in fair sized
type on the 1st page.

Both lists are evidently printed from the same plate,
the places of the Lodges, which have lapsed in the interval
between the two publications, being left vacant in the
later List ; also down to the 5lst entry on either list, the
“BLEw PosTs " (the last) in the earlier, and the “ Croww
and SceprRe” in the later, the descriptions of the con-
tinuing Lodges are identical, except in nine instances
where removals have occurred.

§ 6.—LIST No. 4.

LIST OF LODGES 1729 (PINE). LIST OF LODGES 1730 (PRICHARD).*
Constituted Constituted

1 8t. Paul’s Church-yard 1691 1 King’s Arms In 8t. Paul’s Church-yard 1691

2 Furnivals Ion, near Holborn 1712 2 Rose and Buoffler Against Furnival’s Inn in Holborn 1712

8 Westminster 8 Horn Tavern At Westminster

4 Ivy.lane 4 Swan At Hamstead Jav. 17th 1722

6 Poultry July 11th 1721 5 Three Swans In the Poultry July 11th 1721

6 Clare-street Jan. 19th 1722 6 Tom’s Coffee House  In Clare.street, near Clare-market Jan.19th 1722

7 Behind the Royal Exchange Jan. 28th 1722 7 Rummer In Queen-street, Cheapside Jan. 28th 1722

8 Edgnorth April 25th 1722 8 Devil Tavern At Temple Bar April 25th 1722

9 Noble-street May 1722 9 One Ton In Noble-street May 1722
10 Brewer.street Nov. 26th 1722 10 Lion and Shield In Brewer-street Nov. 25th 1722
11 Knave’s-acre Feb. 27th 1722 11 Queen’s Head In Knave's-acre Feb. 27th 1722.8
12 Swithin’s-alley May 27th 1728 12 Three Tuans In Swithin’s-alley March 27th 1723
18 Duchy-lanet March 28th 1723 13 Anchort In Duatchy-lane March 28th 1723

# For full list of 1730, see Appendix (List 11).

+ This corresponds with the Lodge 23rd in

order in the lists for 1723 and 1725 (§ 4).

In these lists we for the first time touch firm ground,
and an examination of the numbers and dates of consti-
tution given therein, tend to the inference that all four of
the old Lodges were then in existence, this inference being
strengthened and confirmed by the lists of later date, espe-
cially that appended to the Constitutions 1788 (List 5). In
1729-30 the old Lodges would seem to have been thus
described, vis. :—

Original No. 1, as No. 1, King’s Arms, 8t.
No. 2, Antiquity.

Original No. 2, as No. 2, Rose and Baffler, Furnival’s Inn, died out
circa 1787.

Original No. 8, as No. 11, Queen’s Head, Knave's Acre, now No. 12,
Fortitude and Old Cumberland.

Original No. 4, as No. 8, Horn, Westminster, now No. 4, Royal
Somerset House and Inverness.

Paul’s Churchyard, now

§ 6.—LIST No. 5.
(From Anderson’s Constitutions 1738.)

A LIST OF LODGES IN AND ABOUT LONDON AND WEST-
MINSTER.

Many Lodges have by accidents broken up, or are partitioned, or
else removed to new places for their counveniency, and so, if subsist-
in% they are called and known by those new places or their signs.

at the subsisting Lodges, whose Officers have attended the GraND
Lobas or Quarterly Commumication, and brought their Benevolence

to the Grand Charity within twelve months past, are here set down
acoording to their Seniority of Constitution, as in the GeAND LoDar
Books and the Engraven List.

Nos. Bigns of the Houses.
1 KinNg’s ArMS TAVERN  8t. Paul's Church-yard
Removed from the Goose and Gridiron, meet in form.
This is the Senior Lodge, whose Constitution is immemorial.

HorN TAVERN In New Palace-yard, Westminster

The Old Lodge removed from the RuMMER and GRAPES,

Channel Row, whose Constitution is also immemorial, it

being one of the Four Lodges mentioned p 109.—(See § 2.)
SHAKESPEARE'S HXAD  Marlborough-sireet 17th Jan. 1729
BrLL Nicholas-lane 11th July 1721
Braunp’s HEAD New Bond-strest 19th Jan. 1723
RuMMER TAVERN Queen’s-strest, Cheapside 28th Jan. 172}
Daxizr’s Correx Housk Temple Bar 25th April 1722
Rep Cross Barbican May 1722
Kina’s ArM8 TavERN  New Bond-street 25th Nov. 1722
QueEN’s HeaD Knave's Acre 27th Feb. 1723

This was one of the four Lodges mentioned p 109, vis., the
ArpLE TREE Tavern, in Charles Street, Covent Garden, whose
Constitution is immemorial. But after they removed to the
QuexN’'s Heap, upon some difference, the Members that
met there came under a New Constitution, tho' they
wanted it not, and it is therefore placed at this number.
N.B.—The CrowN, in Parker's-lane, the other of the four
old Lodges, is now extinct.

Castix Drury Lame March 1723
Buzr's Corree House Bridges Strest 28th March 1728
‘Where there is also a Masters’ Lodge.

D W IH N
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§ 7.—LIST No. 6.

No.in No.in No.in No.in No.in No.in No.in No.in No.in No. in

Description 1878. Description 1736.% 1736% 1738% 1740% 1744*

Grand Stewards’ Stewards’ Lodge 117 117 116 118
Antiquity King’s Arms 1 1 1 1
Bull and Gate 2 Out(3)
Royal Somerset Horn 3 ] 2 2
House
Friendship Shakspear’s Head 4 4 4 4
Bell 5 5 8(¢) 3
British Braund’s Head 6 6 5 5
Westminster and Rummer 7 7 6 6
Key Stone
Daniel’s Coffee 8 8 7 Out(8)
House
Royal Alphs Red Croes Barr(2) 9 9 8 8
Tuascan King’s Arms 10 10 9 9
Fortitude and Old Queen’s Head 11 11 10 10
Cumberland
01d Dundee Castle 12 12 11 11
Antiquity (Chat- Off the List (3) Ont 18 12 12
ham)

1746% 1750% 1752* 1766% 1756* 1878 Constituted
(5) ( Hesdof
118 115 115 115 70 { wg;:;“} 25 June 1735
8 No.(10)
1 1 1 1 1 2 Time Immemorial
Time Immemorial
3 Out(7) 2 2 4 Time Immemorial
4 4 4 4 3 6 17 Jan. 1721
Oat(®) 11 July 1721
13 5 5 4 8 19 Jan. 1722
6 6 6 6 6 10 28 Jan. 1722
25 April 1722
8 8 8 8 8(°) 16  May1722
Out(®) 9 9 9 7 14 25 Nov. 1722
10 10 10 10 6(*) 12  Time Immemorl.
. 27 Feb. 1723
11 11 11 11 9 18 March 1728
12 12 12 12 10 20 28 March 1723

(1) The words “ Red Cross Barr” have been pasted over the
original printed description of this Lodge.

( ’7) Replaced on the roll as Bury’s Coffee House, Bridges Street,
in 1788.

(2) In the List of 1738 (Constitutions) this vacancy is filled up,
the Horn, No. 3, becoming No. 2.

(+) An example of the irregnlar manner in which vacant numbers
were apportioned to Junior Lodges. (§ 14, List 7.)

(°) Erased 25th March 1745.

(7) Erased 8rd April 1747. Restored 4th September 1751.

(®) With the exoeption of the Grand Stewards’ Lodge, which
became No. 60 in 1770, and No. 47 in 1781, the numbers of the
remaining Lodges above cited, remained unaltered by the general

closing up of numbers in 1770, 1781, and 1792 respectively, and were
numbered as at present at the Union in 1814.

(?) Nos. 8 and 10 of previous list have changed places.
(1) Placed at the head of list on the change of numbers 18th April

(°) Erased 4th April 1744,

1792.

¢ From Engraved Lists (Grand Lodge).
Nore.—See Appendix for Lists from 1725 to 1818.

§8.—It is a task of much nicety, identifying the old
Lodges of to-day with those of a bygome period, since
in most cases their early records have been destroyed
or lost, and even where this has not happened, the
occasions are rare in which any histories of the old
reqular Lodges have been compiled. In the absence
therefore of positive information, it is in the generality of
instances necessary to work ¢ backwards,” and labo-
riously trace the old Lodges of current date from one
number to another, and, by the aid of the various
lists published from time to time throughout the
eighteenth century, from tavern to tavern, until, by a con-
currence of all essential requirements, in number, place,
day of meeting, and date of constitution, the happy result
of identification is rendered presumably complete. Names

are of great mse in connecting the present with the past,
whilst dates of Constitution are equally serviceable in
identifying the latter with the former ; the period, however,
commencing about 1779, and ending with the century,
during which the numbers of Lodges were fwice closed up
(1781 and 1792) is the hardest to bridge over, sinee
the dates cease to be given in full, and distinctive
names were not universally adopted by Lodges until
after 1800. Much confusion, moreover, has ensued
from the relative positions of Lodges constituted in
a particular year being oocasionally varied ; also through
many Lodges which have been temporarily struck off
the list being re-entered—at one time, according to
the date of re-admission, and at another reverting to
the dates of their original constitution. On 24th February
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1734-5,(*) the following resolution was passed by Grand
Lodge :—*“If any Lodge, within the Bills of Mortality,
shall cease to meet regularly during twelve months sncces-
sive, its Name and Place shall be erazed or blotted out of
the Grand Lodge Book and engraven List, and if they
petition to be again inserted and own’d as a regular Lodge,
it must lose its former Place and Rank of Precedency, and
submit to a New Constitution.” (*) Under which rule, aided
by & disposition of Grand Lodge, to visit with heavy
penalties all Lodges who were irregular in attending the
Quarterly Communications, a very wholesale clearing off of
defaulting Lodges took place, though the reinstatements
were very numerous. The present Tuscan Lodge, No. 14,
then No. 9, meeting at the King’s Arms, New Bond Street,
was thus struck off in 1745, reappearing, however, on the
list for 1750, to be again erased in 1764.(%)

On the 25th November 1774,(*) Grand Lodge farther
resolved “ that all Lodges who have not contributed or
shall neglect to contribute, to the General Charity .
if no remittance is made, or satisfactory excuse given .
the said Lodges will be erazed out of the list of Lodges.”

§ 9.—Original No. 1, meeting at the Goose and Gridiron
in 1717, removed from this tavern between 1723 and 1729,
from which latter year, until 1767 (except for a short
time in 1735, when it met at the Paul’s Head, Ludgate
Street), its description, on the lists was the King’s (or
Queen’s) Arms, St. Paunl’s Churchyard, with the additional
title from 1760, of the “ West-India and American Lodge.”
Still retaining which designation it moved to the Mitre,
Fleet-street, in° 1768, and in 1770 became the Lodge of
Antiquity. (See §§ 19-20.) In 1794 it absorbed the
Harodim Lodge No. 467 (constituted March 25th 1790).
At the Union in 1814, the rank of No. 1 having devolved
by lot upon No. 1 “ Ancient’s” (*) (now the Grand Masters’
Lodge), the premier English Lodge, was relegated to the
position of No. 2 on the roll.(*)

(1) Constit. 1738, p 166. § 12 (IL.)

(*) N.B.—Lodges reinstated in their former places in the list, if
the same are not filled ap, on paying two gunineas for a Constitution,
and two guineas to the pablick Charity.—Constit. 1767.

(3) Constit. 1767.
(*) Appendix to Constit. 1767. Published 1775.

(®) Grand Lodge of England according to the * Old Institutions.”
See §§ 20, 22 and 26. .

() The two first Lodges under each Grand Lodge to draw a lot in
the first place for priority ; and to which of the two the lot No. 1 shall
fall the other to rank as No. 2; and all the others shall fall in
alternately, that is, the Lodge which is No. 2 of the fraternity whose

"ot it shall be to draw No. 1, shall rank as No. 3 in the United Grand
Lodge, and the other No. 2 shall rank as No. 4, and so on alternately
through all the numbers respectively.— Articles of Union (VIII.)
‘between the two Grand Lodges of Freemasons of England.—Hughan,
Masonic Memorials. See § 28.

§ 10.—I. Original No. 2, meeting at the CRowN, Parkers
Lane, in 1717, was established at the Queex’s HEap,
Turnstile, Holborn, in 1728, or earlier. It had removed to
the Geeen LEerTICE, Brownlow St. by 1725, whence it
migrated to the Rose and Rumyer 1728, and to the Rose
and Burrroe 1729. In 1730 it met at the BurL and
GaTte, Holborn, and, appearing for the last time in the en-
graved list for 1736, was struck off the roll at the renum-
bering in 1740.

The above summary, may, I think, be relied upon, but
an entry in the minutes of Grand Lodge of * March 16
1752,” is a little confusing :—

“ The petition of several brethren meeting at the CeowN in Parkers
Lane (§ 2), praying that the Lodge formerly held there might be
restored, and have its former place in the Lodge Book. But it ap-
pearing the said Lodge had been discontinued about 30 years, and
that no one of the Petitioners had ever been a member thereof :—
ordered—that the said Petition be rejected.”

If this minute of Grand Lodge be literally accurate, the
following difficulty is presented :—
The old or original Lodges meeting respectively at the

.| Goose and GRIDIRON, the AppLE TREE, and the RuMMER and

GRrAPES, baving been identified, beyond cavil, with Nos. 1,
10, and 2,in Anderson’s list for 1738 (§ 6), and the remain-
ing old Lodge of 1717, the Crowx (§ 2), having lapsed about
1722, whence came the No. 2 of 1729 with a Constitution
dating from 1712, considering that only four Lodges were
existent in 1717, all of which are otherwise accounted for ?

The most natural explanation of this mystery would be
some such hypothesis as the following :—viz., That an
additional Pre-revival Lodge (§ 2) had somehow crept
into the new organization ?

II. Two solnﬁons, however, of the difficulty present
themselves :—

(a) The period of discontinuance attributed to the
Lodge, may have been recorded as thirty instead of twenty
years, an interval of almost precisely this latter period
(May 29 1733) actually occurring between the latest
attendance at Grand Lodge of the representatives of the
then No. 2 (BuLL and GaTE), constituted 1712. (§ 18, IL.)

(b) Assuming that a Lodge at the CRowN had been dis.
continued * about 30 years,” say in 1722, it is quite within
the limits of probability that the Oup Lodge at the Crown
(1717) changed its place of meeting within a year or two
of the Revival. Masonic taverns, as experience shows,
almost always remained true to their calling, and when one
Lodge left, another took its place; this happened at the
Goose and GripiroN, the ArpLe Tree, the Horw, and
indeed in almost every instance of Lodge removal. Is it
not, therefore, a reasonable conjecture that the old Lodge
(original No. 2) having left the CrowN, its successor at
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that tavern dropped out about 1722, and consequently was
omitted from the lists of the following year (1723)°?
(See § 26, IV., note.)

II1.—It is submitted that. the expression :—It ap-
pearing that no ome of the Petitioners had ever been a
member thereof ’—is by no means conclusive as to the fact
it assumes. Also that the position assigned to this Lodge
by Dr. Anderson in the Constitution book of 1723 (§ 8),
that of second on the list, which it preserved at the arrange-
ment by seniority in 1729, was accorded by the same
writer in 1738 (§ 2) to the Lodge which met at the Crown,
Parkers Lane, in 1717, Bros. Payne and Desaguliers, it
must be also remembered, assisting in both publications;
indeed, in the Constitutions of 1738, containing the account
of the Revival (§ 2), it is especially recorded that these
latter brethren only signified their approbation *after
making some corrections.” (§ 13.)

§ 11.—Original No. 3 moved from the Apple Tree Tavern
to the Queen’s Head, Knave's Acre, in 1723 or earlier;
thence to the George and Dragon, Portland St., Oxford
Market, in 1740; to the Swan (same locality) in 1744
in 1750-67 it met at the Fish and Bell, Charles St., Soho
Square ; in 1768-93 it is described as the Lodge of Forti-
tude, Roebuck, Oxford Street ; 1794-98 it met at the King's
Arms, Old Compton St.; 1799-1808, Mill’s Coffee House,
Gerrard St.; 1804-11 The Wrekin, Broad Ct., Long Acre ;
1812-15 F. M. Tav.

In 1818 it amalgamated with the Old Cumberland
Lodge,(*) and is now the Fortitude and O.C. Lodge, No. 12.

§ 12.—I. Original No. 4 moved from the Rummer and
Grapes to the Horn Tavern, Westminster, before 1723, and
continued to meet there until 1766. In 1767 it met at the
Fleece, Tothill-street, Westminster, taking the title of the
“ 0ld Horn Lodge” in 1768. In 1772.3, it met at the
King’s Arms, New Palace Yard; on 10th January 1774,
it was united with, and took the name of, the Sommerset
House Lodge, under which title it met at the Adelphi
Tavern, Strand, in 1775 and at F. M, Tav. 1785-1815.

After the Union, on 25th Nov. 1828, it farther absorbed
the Royal Inverness Lodge,(*) and it is now the Royal
Somerset House and Inverness Lodge No. 4.

Original No. 4 became No. 8 in list of 1729, No. 2
on that of 1740 (1738 Constit.); but on List of 1750

() Constituted 1763. Met at the Lion and Goat, Grosvenor st.,
1756-1770 ; Red Lion, Berkeley-sq., 1781; and styled in 1788 list
the Old Camberland Lodge.

(2) No. 648, “Royal Inverness Lodge,” Gray’'s Coffee House,
Holborn, was the first new Lodge on the Roll of the United Grand
Lodge of England.—Hugban, Masonic Memorials.

there appeared but one Time Immemorial Lodge, as original
No. 4, then No. 2, had been struck off the roll in pursuance
of the following order of Grand Lodge :—

“April 8, 1747.—Ordered that the Lodge No. 2, at the
Horn, in Westminster, not attending according to the order
of the last Quarterly Communication, be erazed out of the
Book of Lodges.”(*)

Four years later,(*) this Lodge resnmed its old position on
the Roll, the following entry in the Constitutions explaining
the reason of its restoration :—

“Sept. 4, 1751.—Upon the petition of several worthy
brethren, after a long debate, it was ordered, that out of
respect to Brother Payne, and several other late Grand
Masters who were members thereof, the Lodge No. 2,
lately held at the Horn in Palace Yard, Westminster,
should be restored, and have its former rank and place in
the list of Lodges.”(*)

II. With the previous paragraph, an entry in the Grand
Lodge minutes of about six months later date may be pro-
fitably compared : —

March 16, 1762.—¢ The Petition of several brethren belonging to
the Lodge No. 83, erazed from the Book of Lodges, but lately held at
the Sun in Ludgate St., praying that the said Lodge might be
restored and have its former rank, was read. When a debate arising
—1It was moved that the Law made on the 24th day of February 1784,
might be read (¢ ),—and the same being read, and it thereby appear-
ing that a Lodge erazed must lose its former rank, and submit to a
new Constitution :—Ordered—that the said petition be rejected.

Later on, as will appear,(?) reinstatement followed era-
sure, as often as not. It is somewhat singular that the
petition for the resuscitation of original No. 2 (§ 10), was
summarily dismissed on the same evening (16th March
1752), and the speculation may be hazarded, that had it
been presented either six months earlier or later, it is
quite possible that all four of the original Lodges would

now be found on the Roll!

§ 18.—IL The history of each of the “Four Old
Lodges” has been briefly outlined, but it may here be
appropriately remarked, that the statements of Dr. An-
derson with regard to them, embodied in the Constitution
Book 1738 (§ 6), even had they stood alome, without any
corroboration from the early minutes of Grand Lodge,
might well have been taken as absolutely conclusive.

Dr. Anderson (a Scotch Presbyterian minister in

(®) Constit. 1756, p 248.

(*) Itis curious to reflect, that had one of the periodical closing up
of numbers oocarred during 1747-51, original No. 4 must have sunk to
even a lower depth than original No. 8, with regard to position on
the Roll. )

(%) G. L. Min. Constit. 1766, p 262.

(¢)§8

(7) Ibid. Note 2. See also Appendix, List 13 (Notes.)
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London) was a leading actor in the early Masonic history
of the past century, and was appointed to arrange and
digest the old Gothic Constitntions on 29th September
1721. He published the Book of Constitutions 17th
Janunary 1723, and was authorised to print a second edition,
with improvements, 81st March 1735, which was approved
25th January 1738.(*) His remarks npon the Old Lodges
(§ 6) were approved in mannscript by Grand Lodge, and
were published with the ezpress approval of Past Grand
Masters Payne and Desaguliers, both of whom were regular
attendants at the Communications of Grand Lodge until
some years after 1740. All three brethren, moreover
(Payne, Desaguliers, and Anderson), were members of
Original No. 4 (Horn), and if tradition may be relied
upon, theirs were the guiding minds which planned and
carried out the Great Revival of Masonry in 1717.(%)

I1. The merits of the Constitutions of 1738, as a record
of eighteenth century facts, are unquestionable ; but it is
much to be regretted, that in his desire to exhibit the Craft
to the best advantage, Dr. Anderson should have claimed
as its rulers at some period or other, nearly every celebrity
of ancient or modern times. Thus we have Noah and his
sons, figuring as the * Four Grand Officers,” and amongst
the Grand Masters, are gravely recorded the names of
Nimrod, Moses (with Joshua as his deputy), Solomon,
Nebuchadnezzar, and Augustus Cesar. An elaborate reason,
moreover, is assigned for excluding Samson from his
Masonic privileges ! !

An acute critic of the last century (*) justly comments,
“ upon the heap of rubbish with which Anderson has
disgraced his Constitutions of Freemasonry, the basis. of
Masonic History” : and the almost invariable practice of
succeeding Masonic writers, * in copying the one from the
other with any amount of credulity and assurance,” (%),
has amply justified Hallam’s uncomplimentary allusion to
the Historians of the Craft (*) :—

“The curions subject of Freemasonry bas unfortunately been
treated of only by panegyrists, or calamniators, both equally menda-

(') Constit. 1738, pp 113, 199.

(3) Bro. D. M. Lyon ascribes Scotland’s acquaintance with, and
subsequent adoption of, English Symbolical Masonry to the con-
ference which the co-fabricator and pioneer of the system (as he
te;mn Dr. Desagaliers) held with the Lodge of Edinburgh in August
1721.

(3) Professor Robison (1798), who however goes much too far, in
styling Anderson (D.D.) and Desaguliers (LL.D. and F.R.8.) persons
of little education and low manners.

(*) Hist. of Freemasonry in York (Hughan), p 8.
-(%) Middle Ages, Vol. IIL, p 485.

III. Dr. Anderson in 1738 makes the following dispo-
sition of the Four Original Lodges (§ 6).
No. 1 Kings Arus Tavern, 8t. Panl’s Charch Yard.

2 Formerly the CROWN in Parkers Lane, now (i.e. recently),
extinot.

8 QuxeN’s Heap, Knaves Acre, formerly the ArrLE TrREER
Tavern, Charles 8t., Cove